
UNITED STATES DISTRICT COURT 
MIDDLE DISTRICT OF FLORIDA 

ORLANDO DIVISION 
 
 
WYNDHAM VACATION 
OWNERSHIP, INC., WYNDHAM 
VACATION RESORTS, INC., 
WYNDHAM RESORT 
DEVELOPMENT CORPORATION, 
SHELL VACATIONS, LLC, SVC-
AMERICANA, LLC and SVC-HAWAII, 
LLC,  
 
 Plaintiffs, 
 
v. Case No:  6:19-cv-1908-Orl-78EJK 
 
SLATTERY, SOBEL & DECAMP, LLP, 
DEL MAR LAW GROUP, LLP, 
CARLSBAD LAW GROUP, LLP, JL 
''SEAN&QUOT SLATTERY, 
PANDORA MARKETING, LLC, 
PANDORA SERVICING, LLC, 
INTERMARKETING MEDIA, LLC, 
KENNETH EDDY, WILLIAM WILSON 
and RICH FOLK, 
 
 Defendants. 
 / 
 

ORDER 

This cause comes before the Court on the Motion to Strike Immaterial Impertinent, and 

Scandalous Portions of the Complaint (the “Motion”), filed on February 11, 2020 by Defendants 

Slattery, Sobel, & Decamp, LLP (“Slattery”), Del Mar Law Group, LLP (“Del Mar”), Carlsbad 

Law Group, LLP (“Carlsbad”), and JL Sean Slattery (“JL Sean”) (collectively “Defendants”). 

(Doc. 43.) Plaintiffs filed a response in opposition to the Motion (Doc. 50), and Defendants replied 

(Doc. 56). Thus, the Motion is now ripe for review. For the reasons set forth below, the Motion is 

due to be denied.  
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I. BACKGROUND 

Plaintiffs instituted this action on October 4, 2019. (Doc. 1.) Four months later, on January 

21, 2020, Plaintiffs filed their Amended Complaint, wherein they bring the following causes of 

action against the named Defendants: false advertising, in violation of the Lanham Act, 15 U.S.C. 

§ 1125(a)(1); contributory false advertising, in violation of 15 U.S.C. § 1125(a)(1); tortious 

interference with contractual relations; violation of Florida’s Deceptive and Unfair Trade Practices 

Act; and civil conspiracy to commit tortious interference. (Doc. 36.) Defendants filed the instant 

Motion on February 11, 2020, and one month later, Plaintiffs voluntarily dismissed Defendants 

Andris Pukke and Power Haus Marketing, Inc. (Doc. 59). The Court subsequently dismissed Mr. 

Pukke and Power Haus Marketing from this action. (Doc. 61.) 

II. LEGAL STANDARD  

Pursuant to Rule 12(f), “[t]he court may strike from a pleading an insufficient defense or 

any redundant, immaterial, impertinent, or scandalous matter.” Fed. R. Civ. P. 12(f). “‘The 

purpose of a motion to strike is to clean up the pleadings, streamline litigation, and avoid 

unnecessary forays into immaterial matters.’” S. Y. v. Naples Hotel Co., No. 

220CV118FTM29MRM, 2020 WL 4504976, at *5 (M.D. Fla. Aug. 5, 2020) (quoting Hutchings 

v. Fed. Ins. Co., 2008 WL 4186994, *2 (M.D. Fla. Sept. 8, 2008)). A motion to strike is generally 

considered a drastic measure and should be granted only if “the matter sought to be omitted has 

no possible relationship to the controversy, may confuse the issues, or otherwise prejudice a 

party.” Reyher v. Trans World Airlines, Inc., 881 F. Supp. 574, 576 (M.D. Fla. 1995); see also 

Haegele v. Judd, No. 8:19-CV-2750-T-33CPT, 2020 WL 3288030, at *2 (M.D. Fla. June 19, 

2020). 
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III. DISCUSSION 

There are two categories of allegations Defendants argue should be stricken—allegations 

pertaining to Mr. Pukke’s interactions with the Federal Trade Commissioner (“FTC”) (hereinafter 

the “Pukke Allegations”) and the “activities of unidentified disreputable timeshare exit 

companies” (hereinafter the “Timeshare Exit Allegations”). (Doc. 43 at 4, 6.) The Court will 

address the appropriateness of striking these paragraphs in turn. 

A. The Pukke Allegations Should Not Be Stricken 

The Pukke Allegations include paragraphs 1–6, 8, 9–13, 56–58, 61–69, 74–79, 82–83 of 

the Amended Complaint and Exhibits 2–5 (Docs. 36-2–15) attached thereto. (Id. at 4.) Plaintiffs 

use the first six paragraphs of the Amended Complaint to characterize Mr. Pukke as a known 

fraudster pursued by the FTC. (Doc. 36, ¶¶ 1–6.) The FTC investigated, brought actions against 

(AmeriDebt and In re Sanctuary Belize), and obtained injunctions against Mr. Pukke for his 

involvement in a “fraudulent ‘non-profit’ ‘debt relief’ company.” (Id.) At one point, a temporary 

receiver (“TR”) was appointed to investigate the site of the In re Sanctuary Belize scam. (Id. ¶¶ 

3–5.) During the site visit, the TR discovered that one of the named defendants in this action, 

Pandora Marketing, LLC, operated out of the same location as the In re Sanctuary Belize 

defendants. (Id. ¶ 5.) After a year of investigation, the TR ultimately determined that hundreds of 

thousands of dollars flowed between the In re Sanctuary Belize defendants and Pandora 

Marketing, LLC. (Id. ¶ 6.) Plaintiffs attach a copy of the injunctions from the AmeriDebt and In 

re Sanctuary Beliez actions, as well as the TR’s report. (Docs. 36-2–15; 36, ¶¶ 9–10, 82, 83.) 

Plaintiffs reiterate these factual allegations in a subsection entitled, “Relationship between 

Pandora Marketing, and other Defendants, and the defendants in In re Sanctuary Belize.” (Doc. 

36, ¶¶ 56–58.) Plaintiffs also detail the various financial transactions and relationships between 
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the In re Sanctuary Belize defendants, Power Haus, Mr. Pukke, and Defendant Pandora 

Marketing. (Id. ¶¶ 61–69). 

Paragraphs 74–79, unlike the other paragraphs within the Pukke Allegations, do not focus 

on AmeriDebt, In re Sanctuary Belize, or Mr. Pukke; instead, they map the connection between 

Defendants Pandora Marketing and Intermarketing Media. (Doc. 36, ¶¶ 74–79.) Specifically, 

these paragraphs allege that “Spectrum Holdings,” one of the managers/members of Defendant 

Intermarketing Media, is found at the same address as “Spectrum Holdings Irrevocable Trust,” 

the 20% owner of Defendant Pandora Marketing. (Id.)   

Defendants argue that the Pukke Allegations should be stricken because they prejudice 

both the Court and the jury against Defendants, as well as fail to demonstrate an apparent 

connection between the events surrounding AmeriDebt and In re Sanctuary Belize with the facts 

of the instant case. (Doc. 43 at 4–5.) In other words, Defendants contend that the Pukke 

Allegations are immaterial. See 5C Wright and Miller, Federal Practice and Procedure § 1382 (3d 

ed. 2004) (“‘Immaterial’ matter is that which has no essential or important relationship to the 

claim for relief or the defenses being pleaded, or a statement of unnecessary particulars in 

connection with and descriptive of that which is material.”). In response, Plaintiffs argue that the 

FTC investigations and related actions are not immaterial because “there is a clear relationship 

between” the defendants from AmeriDebt and In re Sanctuary Belize, and the named Defendants 

in this action. (Doc. 50 at 5.) Moreover, Plaintiffs contend that these allegations may entitle them 

to enhanced damages under the Lanham Act and are probative of the FDUTPA claim. (Id. at 6.) 

Defendants reply that there are no reported cases where “the prior bad acts of one defendant, 

which were independent of and unrelated to the later activities which led to claims, were 

considered to be a basis for awarding ‘enhanced damages’ against other defendants.” (Doc. 56 at 
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3.)  

  Defendants fail to explain how the Pukke Allegations will prejudice the Court and jury 

against them. First, Defendants have not offered a reason why Plaintiffs should be precluded from 

demonstrating the relationship between two named Defendants—Pandora Marketing and 

Intermarketing Media. (See Doc. 36, ¶¶ 74–79.) Second, though Mr. Pukke is no longer a 

defendant in this action, he remains relevant as he is the alleged part owner of one of the named 

Defendants, Pandora Marketing. (Doc. 36, ¶ 55d.) While the events leading up to the AmeriDebt 

and In re Sanctary Belize actions may differ from the events leading up to the instant case, the 

Pukke Allegations nevertheless show that the connection between the In re Sanctuary Belize 

defendants and Defendant Pandora Marketing was not limited to a shared address. Millions of 

dollars flowed between the In re Sanctuary Belize defendants and Defendant Pandora Marketing, 

several individual In re Sanctuary Belize defendants are officers or owners of Defendant Pandora 

Marketing, and the TR previously interviewed Defendants Folk and Wilson about the relationship 

between Defendant Pandora Marketing and the In re Sanctuary Belize defendants. (Docs. 36, ¶¶ 

5, 52–69; 50 at 5.) In that same vein, the Court finds that Exhibits 2–5 should not be stricken, as 

they are copies of the injunctions from the AmeriDebt and In re Sanctuary Belize litigation, and 

the TR’s Report for In re Sanctuary Belize. Balancing this information against Defendants’ 

conclusory allegations of prejudice and immateriality, the Court finds that the Pukke Allegations 

should not be stricken. 

B. The Timeshare Exit Allegations Should Not Be Stricken  

The second category of allegations Defendants request to be stricken are found in 

paragraphs 86–96 of the Amended Complaint. (Doc. 43 at 6.) In these paragraphs, Plaintiffs 

characterize how the timeshare exit industry generally operates. (Doc. 36, ¶¶ 86–96.) As the name 
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implies, a timeshare exit business offers a service to timeshare owners that purportedly terminates 

the contractual relationship between the timeshare owner and the company that sold the timeshare, 

like each of the Plaintiffs. (Id. ¶ 86.) The “success” of a timeshare exist business depends on a 

symbiotic relationship between lawyers and marketing groups. (Id. ¶¶ 88–91.) Plaintiffs allege that 

the marketing groups provide a channel for lawyers to circumvent a state’s rules of professional 

conduct, while the lawyers provide an air of legitimacy to the marketing groups and simultaneously 

block all communication between the timeshare owner and Plaintiffs. (Id.) This service, according 

to Plaintiffs, is a scam because it usually results in a “substantial negative impact on the credit and 

finances” of timeshare owners. (Id. ¶¶ 93–96.)    

Defendants contend that these allegations should be stricken because “the misdeeds of 

other ‘timeshare exit companies’ are not material to any claims against any of the Defendants.” 

(Doc. 43 at 6.) In response, Plaintiffs state that these paragraphs “provide an overall context as to 

the functioning of the timeshare exit industry in which Defendants operate.” (Doc. 50 at 6.) 

Defendants did not reply to Plaintiff’s argument. (See Doc. 56.) In this instance, the Court agrees 

with Plaintiffs. This action is about Defendants’ alleged impropriety when running their timeshare 

exit business. Without a general understanding of how timeshare exit companies operate, it would 

be difficult to comprehend the significance of Defendants’ actions as set forth in the paragraphs 

following the Timeshare Exit Allegations. (Doc. 36, ¶¶ 99–153); see also Mainstreet One Fin. 

Plaza Ltd. v. Axis Surplus Ins. Co., No. 07-60232-CIV, 2007 WL 9700556, at *1 (S.D. Fla. Aug. 

28, 2007) (denying the defendant’s motion to strike paragraphs providing contextual information 

about a hurricane, since the action was about that hurricane’s specific impact on the plaintiff’s 

property). 
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IV. CONCLUSION 

Defendants have failed to demonstrate how the Pukke Allegations and the Timeshare Exit 

Allegations are immaterial to the instant case. As such, it is hereby ORDERED that the Motion 

(Doc. 43) is DENIED.  

DONE and ORDERED in Orlando, Florida on August 21, 2020. 

                                                                                                 

 
 
Copies furnished to: 
 
Counsel of Record 
Unrepresented Parties 
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